IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC02-1023

On Appeal from a Final Order of The Florida Public Service Commission

SOUTH FLORIDA HOSPITAL AND HEALTHCARE ASSOCIATION, et al.

Appellants,

v.

LILA A. JABER, et al.,

Appellees.

INITIAL BRIEF OF SOUTH FLORIDA HOSPITAL AND HEALTHCARE ASSOCIATION, et al.

Mark F. Sundback Kenneth L. Wiseman Andrews & Kurth, L.L.P. 1701 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W. Washington, D.C. 20006

Miriam O. Victorian Andrews & Kurth, Mayor, Day, Caldwell and Keeton, L.L.P. 700 Louisiana Street Houston, Texas 77002

Counsel for Appellants

INTRODUCTION

South Florida Hospital and Healthcare Association, Ann Bates Leach Eye Hospital, Aventura Hospital, Baptist Hospital of Miami, Bascom Palmer Eye Institute, Broward General Medical Center, Cedars Medical Center, Columbia Hospital, Coral Gables Hospital, Coral Springs Medical Center, Deering Hospital, Delray Medical Center, Florida Medical Center, Hialeah Hospital, Hollywood Medical Center, Imperial Point Medical Center, JFK Medical Center, Kendall Regional Medical Center, Miami Children's Hospital, Miami Heart Medical Center, Mt. Sinai Medical Center, North Broward Medical Center, North Ridge Medical Center, North Shore Medical Center Northwest Medical Center, Palm Beach Gardens Medical Center, Palmetto General Hospital, Palms West Hospital, Parkway Regional Medical Center, Plantation General Hospital, South Miami Hospital, University Hospital, University of Miami Hospital and Clinics, Vencor Hospital - Coral Gables, Vencor Hospital - Ft. Lauderdale, Vencor Hospital -Hollywood, West Boca Medical Center and Westside Regional Medical Center (collectively, the "Hospitals") appeal a decision of the Florida Public Service Commission ("Commission"). In support hereof, the Hospitals state as follows:

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On appeal here is the Commission's approval of a settlement terminating the incomplete review of the retail rates of Florida Power & Light Company ("FPL"). *In re: Review of the retail rates of Florida Power & Light Company*, Order No. PSC-02-0501-AS-EI (April 11, 2002). (R.11899). The Commission approved the settlement over the Hospitals' objections and despite their request for a hearing to examine whether there was a sufficient evidentiary basis for the Commission to determine that the settlement would produce just and reasonable rates.

The Commission proceeding that was resolved by the settlement was initiated by Commission Order No. PSC-01-1346-PCO-EI. *In re: Review of Florida Power & Light Company's proposed merger with Entergy Corporation, the formation of a Florida transmission company, and their effect on FPL's rates,* 01 FPSC 6:3 78 (2001). (R. 395). In that order the Commission discussed a number of factors that led it to conclude that there should be a comprehensive review of PFL's rates.

One such factor was Governor Bush's creation of the Energy 2020 Study Commission ("Energy Commission"), which was charged with proposing an energy plan and strategy for Florida over the next 20 years. In December 2000, the Energy Commission filed an Interim Report with the Legislature that included proposed legislation designed to move Florida to a wholesale deregulated energy

market. That draft legislation included a proposal to place a cap on retail base rates. During the legislative session that considered the proposed legislation, there were concerns expressed about the earnings level of investor-owned companies (such as FPL), the value of their generation and transmission assets and whether current base rates accurately reflected costs. (R. 396).

In addition, the Commission also expressed concerns about FPL in particular that, in the Commission's view, warranted a comprehensive review of FPL's rates. One concern involved FPL's return on equity. The return on equity that FPL was authorized to earn had been capped by the terms of a stipulation that FPL and others entered into in 1999 (the "1999 Stipulation"). The cap on FPL's authorized return on equity was part of a revenue sharing plan under which FPL shared with ratepayers some level of revenues in excess of agreed-upon thresholds. The 1999 Stipulation recognized that from time to time, FPL's achieved return on equity might be outside the authorized range. The Commission's order setting this matter for hearing noted, however, that in every month since the inception of the 1999 Stipulation, FPL's achieved return on equity had exceeded the benchmark return level by a range of 4 to 157 basis points, or, figured conservatively, on average 49 basis points above the top of the range. The Commission stated that it was concerned that when the revenue sharing plan was scheduled to terminate on April 14, 2002, FPL would continue to over-earn with no protection for ratepayers from FPL's high earnings. (R. 397).

The Commission also was concerned with the portion of FPL's capitalization attributed to common equity (as opposed to for instance debt) because the higher a utility's equity component presumed or imputed to derive rates, all other things being equal, the higher the aggregate cost of service. The Commission noted that although FPL's equity ratio was capped by the 1999 Stipulation at 55.83% on an adjusted basis for purposes of surveillance reports that FPL files with the Commission, FPL's adjusted equity ratio had exceeded the cap since March 2000. The Commission further stated that FPL's actual equity ratio of 65% was well above the average for AA-rated electric utilities and that a rate proceeding would afford an opportunity to set an appropriate ratio to use for ratemaking purposes after the expiration of the revenue sharing mechanism under the 1999 Stipulation. (R. 398).

Another factor that the Commission referenced as a basis to implement a review of FPL's rates was the proposed creation of GridFlorida, a regional transmission organization ("RTO") being formed in response to an order of the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission ("FERC"). Under the FERC's order, Florida's utilities (such as FPL) that provide transmission services that are subject to the FERC's jurisdiction, would contribute their FERC jurisdictional

transmission facilities to GridFlorida. Thereafter, GridFlorida would assume operational control of the facilities, and transmission rates would be determined in a manner that would depart from the traditional manner in which rates have been set for each of the stand-alone utilities. The Commission determined that the implementation of GridFlorida would have a significant impact on FPL's investments and expenses in the future. It also determined that retail rates, which currently include a component to recover the costs of transmission facilities, would have to be reconciled with the imposition of new wholesale transmission rates that would be charged by GridFlorida. (R. 396).

In addition to the foregoing reasons for finding that an earnings review was needed, the Commission noted that FPL's most recent fully allocated cost of service study was filed in 1981 for a projected 1983 test year. Thus, a comprehensive review of FPL's rates had not taken place in 18 years.

In view of these factors, the Commission determined that it was necessary to initiate a base rate proceeding (i) to address the level of FPL's earnings, (ii) to assure appropriate retail rates on a going forward basis and (iii) to provide for appropriate benefits to ratepayers from the creation of an RTO and future restructuring of Florida's electric market. (R. 398).

On October 24, 2001, in Order No. PSC-01-2111-PCO-EI, the Commission established procedures for reviewing FPL's rates (the "Hearing Order"). *In re:*

Review of the retail rates of Florida Power & Light Company, 01 FPSC 10:484 (2001). (R. 9394). In the Hearing Order, the Commission considered a proposal by FPL that would have modified the procedures that normally would be utilized in a rate review. Under normal procedures, a utility files Minimum Filing Requirements ("MFRs"), which are schedules that set forth specified arrays of historical and projected financial and operational data that are relevant to ratemaking, after which parties conduct discovery and proceed to a hearing. Following the hearing and briefing, Commission Staff issues a recommendation to the Commission concerning the Staff's view as to the proper disposition of the particular case. The Commission then can review Staff's recommendation in the context of the comprehensive record developed by all the parties during the hearing and through briefing.

Under FPL's proposal, following Staff's review of the data in the MFRs, Staff would have issued a recommendation setting forth its preliminary assessment of the reasonableness of FPL's rates. (R. 9399). Whatever hearing then would take place would be narrowed by Staff's recommendations based upon its preliminary assessment.

The Commission declined to accept FPL's proposal. The Hearing Order noted:

FPL's suggestion of requiring a staff recommendation on how best to proceed based upon its review of the extensive and comprehensive 2002 forecast data is unnecessary, not practical, and potentially prejudicial to the rights of one or more of the parties.

Order No. PSC-01-2111-PCO-EI at 7. (R. 9400). The Commission went on to explain:

The Commission ordered the utility to file MFRs to determine what FPL's retail rates should be on a going forward basis. There are two means of addressing that issue with finality in Florida Administrative Law. First, via a settlement, agreed to by all parties to the proceeding and subsequently approved by the Commission. Second, via a hearing conducted pursuant to Sections 120.569 an 120.57, Florida Statutes.

Id. (R. 9400).

Consistent with this ruling, the Commission set the matter for hearing to commence on April 10, 2002. (R. 9400). However, the Commission ultimately did not follow either of the two procedures that the Hearing Order specifies are the two means available to set FPL's retail rates, *i.e.*, there neither was a unanimous settlement nor did the Commission afford parties a hearing on the merits.

What transpired instead was that the procedural schedule was aborted prior to the completion of discovery and prior to the convening of an evidentiary hearing in which parties would have been given the opportunity to cross-examine FPL's witnesses. On March 14, 2002, FPL along with other parties to the proceeding, but not the Hospitals, filed a joint motion asking the Commission to approve a proposed settlement of the case. (R. 11739). On the same day, FPL moved to suspend the procedural schedule in view of the pending proposed settlement.

(R. 11735). The motion to suspend the procedural schedule was granted on that same day. (R. 11785).

The proposed settlement is to be effective for the period April 15, 2002 through December 31, 2005. (R. 11748). Its most significant terms provide (i) for a \$250 million annual reduction to FPL's base rates (*id.*) and (ii) a revenue sharing arrangement if FPL's retail base rate revenues exceed certain specified levels. (R. 11749). Notwithstanding those provisions, the settlement also provides FPL an opportunity to file for a rate increase during the term of the settlement if its retail base rate earnings fall below a 10% return on equity. (R. 11750).

The Hospitals opposed the proposed settlement for two fundamental reasons. First, the evidence they had developed up until that time and which was set forth in the prepared testimony of their expert witness, or which they intended to elicit through cross-examination of FPL's witnesses, showed that the annual base rate reduction of \$250 million under the settlement was woefully short of providing just and reasonable rates. (R. 11849). The Hospitals' evidence, inclusive of evidence that would have been developed on cross-examination, supported an annual base rate reduction of \$535 million. (R. 11849-50). Appendix A hereto sets forth a summary of the evidence that the Hospitals would have presented, had they been afforded a hearing, to support a rate reduction of at least \$535 million. Second, the discovery process was not complete and discovery concerning two significant

issues was outstanding. (R. 11852 and 11854). Had the Hospitals been given the opportunity to obtain complete discovery concerning the two outstanding issues, they may have been able to show that even an annual reduction of \$535 million to base rates was insufficient to produce just and reasonable rates.

One area of discovery that was outstanding concerned transactions between FPL's affiliates and between an unregulated affiliate and an unaffiliated entity. The Hospitals had sought information concerning those transactions to determine whether FPL had shifted value away from ratepayers to unregulated entities where the value would be used exclusively for the benefit of shareholders. (R. 11004-19).

The basis for the Hospitals' discovery requests into these transactions was information included in filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission, shareholder reports and reports FPL had filed with the Commission outside the context of the rate case. Certain of those discovery requests concerned transactions with an entity named Adelphia Communications ("Adelphia"). Adelphia uses FPL property to conduct its business, and pays FPL for the right to use that property. Adelphia, through its affiliates Adelphia Cable and Adelphia Business Solutions, pays rental for use of FPL facilities. Revenue from Adelphia is credited against the jurisdictional cost of service of electric ratepayers. The lower the revenue from Adelphia, the more residual cost must be borne by FPL's ratepayers. (R. 11679).

Adelphia is not just another entity using FPL property. FPL's general counsel was on the Board of Directors of Adelphia. (R. 11683). FPL's general counsel also was president of an entity named Cable GP, Inc., which was a partner in an entity named Olympus Communications, L.P. ("Olympus"). *Id.* The other major owner of interests in Olympus was Adelphia. (R. 11679). Adelphia's other partners in the Olympus partnership were subsidiaries of FPL Group, Inc. operating under the name "Telesat." *Id.* Olympus operates one of the largest contiguous cable systems located in some of the fastest growing markets in Florida. As of December 31, 1999, Olympus' cable system passed in front of 974,861 homes and served 651,308 basic subscribers. *Id.* To provide its services, Olympus owns or leases parcels of real property for signal reception sites (antenna towers and headends) and microwave facilities. (R. 11680).

Whether through clearing rights of way which would be charged to ratepayers but which could benefit others using the right of way or by conveying property rights in lease or in fee to Olympus or Adelphia (for example to be used by Olympus or Adelphia for antenna towers or microwave facilities), the FPL Group by means of controlling FPL could benefit Adelphia and Olympus in numerous ways. (R. 11682).

By late 1999, FPL Group sold 3.5 million shares of Adelphia common stock and had its interest in an unnamed cable limited partnership redeemed, for

aggregate after-tax gains of more than \$160 million, according to FPL Group's 1999 Annual Report. (R. 11680). The circumstances described above caused the Hospitals to seek discovery to determine whether FPL in fact had shifted value to Adelphia and Olympus at ratepayer expense, and the FPL Group then appropriated increases in value for the benefit of shareholders.

There also were other transactions that caused the Hospitals to seek discovery concerning affiliate transactions. In early 2000, FPL conveyed to its wholly-owned affiliate FiberNet substantial assets involving, inter alia, fiber optic cables originally installed to assist in FPL's operation of its electric utility system. (R. 11680). FPL Group's annual report disclosed that FiberNet's "fiber optic network was originally developed in the late 1980s to provide internal telecommunications service to support company operations." *Id.* Since FPL's conveyance of the assets to FiberNet, FPL's revenues credited against its jurisdictional electric cost of service have fallen significantly. *Id.* Additionally, FPL has been engaged in shedding millions of dollars of property to a nonregulated affiliate named Land Resource Investment Company ("LRIC"). What is done by LRIC with the property, including renting or selling portions of it to third parties, is not disclosed in diversification reports that FPL routinely files with the Commission. *Id*.

FPL resisted providing the requested data. Thus the Hospitals moved to compel production of requested data. (R. 11004). The Presiding Officer agreed that the Hospitals were entitled to obtain the discovery they sought concerning the transactions between FPL, non-Commission regulated affiliates and other entities. In Order No. PSC-02-0254-PCO-EI, he ruled that having considered the arguments, i.e., which included the argument that FPL might be shifting value from ratepayers to shareholders, the Hospitals were entitled to obtain the information they were seeking and ordered FPL to produce the information within two days. In re: Review of the retail rates of Florida Power & Light Company, 02 FPSC 2:194 (2002). (R. 11125). However, rather than produce the discovery, FPL filed a motion for reconsideration. (R. 11245). FPL's reconsideration motion was pending before the Presiding Officer at the time that the proposed settlement was filed and the procedural schedule was suspended. Once the Commission approved the proposed settlement, the Presiding Judge vacated the prior order that had required FPL to provide the Hospitals with discovery concerning the affiliate transactions. In re: Review of the retail rates of Florida Power & Light Company, (R. 11832). 02-FPSC 3:326 (2002). Thus, the Hospitals never obtained the outstanding discovery concerning affiliate transactions that might have disclosed that reductions to FPL's base rates were warranted in excess of the \$535 million that the Hospitals had identified up until that time.

In lieu of completing discovery and convening a hearing, the Commission considered the proposed settlement in a special meeting held on March 22, 2002. At the outset of the meeting, the Commission indicated that parties would be given up to five minutes each to make their presentation. (R. 11838). Counsel for the Hospitals indicated that the Hospitals had assumed that they would be given an opportunity to present a thorough analysis to show why the settlement should not be approved. (R. 11848). After indicating that "we really are here to discuss the proposed settlement" (R. 11849), implying that it had not been the Commission's intention to discuss objections to the proposed settlement, the Commission ultimately allowed the Hospitals 15 minutes to explain their opposition to the proposed settlement. (R. 11849). The Hospitals concluded their remarks by asking the Commission to defer ruling on the proposed settlement and to allow the discovery process to be completed in order to obtain discovery concerning FPL's affiliate dealings as well as with respect to the other area of discovery that was outstanding. (R. 11855).

The other area involved FPL's resource planning process. (R. 11854). Information that had been provided revealed that FPL had incurred a \$100 million cost overrun in connection with the repowering of one of its generation plants. (R. 11854). The Hospitals had outstanding discovery requests designed to obtain information concerning whether any other cost overruns had occurred, whether

FPL's generation resource planning process was being performed in a prudent manner and whether FPL was attempting to pass through to ratepayers costs that had been imprudently incurred associated with the construction of new electric generating capacity. (R. 11295). The Hospitals asked to be allowed to complete discovery concerning the affiliate transaction issue and the costs of new generation plant and asked that the Commission thereafter hold a hearing on the merits of the proposed settlement to find out whether it results in just and reasonable rates. (R. 11855). The Hospitals pointed out that such a determination only can be made based upon a full and adequate administrative record, which was something the Commission lacked. (R. 11855).

The Commission, however, approved the settlement over the Hospitals' objection and without affording the Hospitals either the discovery they had requested or the opportunity of a hearing. As a result, the Commission, in approving the settlement, disregarded the conclusion in the Hearing Order that there are only two ways to resolve this case under Florida Administrative Law, *i.e.*, through a unanimous settlement or a hearing conducted pursuant to Sections 120.569 an 120.57, Florida Statutes. (R. 9400). Additionally, in approving the settlement, the Commission did so without the benefit of having reviewed prepared testimony submitted either by the Office of Public Counsel ("OPC") or the Commission's own Staff. Neither of those parties filed prepared testimony in

accordance with the Commission's procedural schedule at the time the Commission approved the settlement. While Staff's position on FPL's rates is unknown, OPC disclosed that its testimony, had it been filed, would have on some issues called for larger reductions than had been identified by the Hospitals. (R. 11877).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

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