IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC02-1023

On Appeal From a Final Order of The Florida Public Service Commission

SOUTH FLORIDA HOSPITAL AND HEALTHCARE ASSOCIATION, et al.

Appellant,

v.

LILA A. JABER, et al.

Appellees

ANSWER BRIEF OF FLORIDA POWER & LIGHT COMPANY

Alvin B. Davis John T. Butler Steel Hector & Davis LLP 200 South Biscayne Boulevard Suite 4000 Miami, Florida 33131-2398

R. Wade LitchfieldFlorida Power & Light Company700 Universe BoulevardJuno Beach, Florida 33408-0420

Counsel for Florida Power & Light Company

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS 1
The FPSC's Rate-Review Proceeding
The SFHA's Participation
SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 11
ARGUMENT

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The FPSC conducted a review of FPL's rates on its own motion, in order to ascertain whether FPL's rates remained at appropriate levels. The FPSC is entitled by statute to conduct such reviews. From the outset, the FPSC made it clear that

⁸ Attached as Appendix B hereto is an excerpt from the transcript to the March 22, 2002, agenda conference that reproduces the exchange between Chairman Jaber and the FPSC staff concerning rate parity. As may be seen in Appendix B, "rate parity" refers to the concept that the rate paid by each customer class should yield roughly the same return on investment to the utility for the facilities necessary to serve that class, as the utility's overall return on investment. It is a goal of the FPSC and its staff to move customer classes toward parity when a utility's rates are revised. The FPSC and its staff were aware that, under FPL's current rates, the classes in which the SFHA's members take service do not yield as high a return as FPL's overall return on investment. The staff advised the Commissioners that, if the rate review had gone to hearing, they would have wanted to limit the extent of the rate reduction for those classes, in order to bring them closer to parity. In fact, Chairman Jaber observed that the extent of the deviation from parity in FPL's existing rates might even require a rate *increase* for the classes serving the SFHA members.

the review was a limited proceeding, that there might not be a hearing in connection with it, and that the FPSC could terminate the proceeding whenever it and its staff satisfied themselves that FPL's rates were or would be appropriate. The review spanned more than 18 months. FPL filed or produced over 1,300 pages of MFRs and 4,100 responses to discovery. It prefiled 750 pages of direct testimony from 13 expert witnesses, detailing and explaining its 2002 test year results. The FPSC's staff carefully audited FPL's information. Ultimately, the FPSC was presented with a Stipulation, adopted by representatives of all FPL's major customer classes and endorsed by the FPSC staff, which would reduce FPL's existing rates by \$250 million per year, would commit FPL to a \$200 million adjustment to its fuel cost recovery charge, and would require a revenuesharing mechanism with the potential to generate significant additional refunds to FPL's customers. After receiving input from all parties, the FPSC concluded its rate review by approving the Stipulation. This outcome achieved the FPSC's express purpose for the review.

In the face of this orderly, carefully defined process, the SFHA argues that the FPSC cannot approve the Stipulation without giving the SFHA an opportunity for its own hearing. Fundamental to this argument is the mistaken premise that the FPSC conducted the rate review to determine the SFHA's interests. That premise is entirely without foundation. The only support that the SFHA can muster for this

exaggerated view of its role in the proceeding is the SFHA's intervention itself. But the SFHA's petition to intervene requested neither relief nor hearing. Moreover, the FPSC's order granting intervention specifically cautioned that the SFHA would take the proceeding as it found it. There is nothing in the record (or in the nature of this type of proceeding generally) to suggest that, by allowing the SFHA to intervene, the FPSC intended to give the SFHA veto power over its decision to conclude the review once the FPSC's articulated objectives had been met. And there is nothing in Florida law that requires the FPSC to confer that veto power.

Finally and most tellingly, putting aside all its defective arguments, the SFHA cannot even make the threshold showing that it is entitled to bring this appeal. Beyond the SFHA's intervenor status, in order to have standing to appeal, the SFHA must show that the result of the FPSC's rate-review proceeding adversely affected its interests. The SFHA has no plausible argument that the Stipulation adversely affected its interests. The Stipulation reduced FPL's rates to the SFHA's members to the same extent as for all of FPL's other customers. It appears that the SFHA's only claim of adverse effect is speculation that a hearing might have enabled it to justify a larger rate reduction. This wishful speculation is, of course, belied by the SFHA's own data. As discussed above, Appendix A demonstrates that the adjustments proposed by the SFHA's witnesses simply

would not survive even casual scrutiny. Moreover, if the SFHA truly believes it could show that a further rate reduction is warranted, it is perfectly free to petition the FPSC for that relief rather than jeopardizing a settlement that is already benefiting FPL's customers.

ARGUMENT

1. The FPSC Properly Conducted its Rate Review.

The basis for the SFHA's appeal is essentially that the FPSC did not indulge the SFHA in all of the discovery it sought and did not conduct a hearing to allow the SFHA to elaborate on its hypothesis that FPL's rates should be reduced by more than is provided in the Stipulation. The SFHA has a very high burden to meet in challenging the FPSC's procedure. This Court has expressed that burden as follows:

We begin by noting the narrow scope of this Court's review of orders of the Florida Public Service Commission. We have only to determine whether the [FPSC's] action comports with the essential requirements of law and is supported by substantial competent evidence. The burden is upon appellants to overcome the presumption of correctness attached to orders of the [FPSC].

Pan American World Airways, Inc. v. Florida Public Service Comm., 427 So. 2d

716, 717 (Fla. 1983)(citations omitted). As shown below, the SFHA does not come close to carrying that burden.

a. The FPSCciectingsoweries two comdution is an identication of the second seco

proceedings when its objectives have been met.

The Florida Legislature has given the FPSC express statutory authority to initiate proceedings to review a public utility's rates on its own motion, without regard to whether there is any outside party that seeks a change in those rates. *See* §§ 366.06 and 366.07, Fla. Stat. (2001). This Court has long recognized the power of administrative agencies to initiate proceedings on their own motion and has emphasized that it constitutes an important difference between the functions of courts and administrative agencies:

We understand well the differences between the functions and orders of courts and those of administrative agencies, particularly those regulatory agencies which exercise a continuing supervisory jurisdiction over the persons and activities regulated. For one thing, although courts seldom, if ever, initiate proceedings on their **own motion**, regulatory agencies such as the commission often do so.

McCaw Communications of Florida v. Clark, 679 So. 2d 1177, 1179 (Fla. 1996); see also Reedy Creek Utilities Co. v. Florida Public Service Commission, 418 So.

2d 249 (Fla. 1982); Peoples Gas System v. Mason, 187 So. 2d 335 (Fla. 1966).

A distinguishing characteristic between the role of a court and that of an administrative agency is that an agency is not constrained by the wishes of the parties in deciding how and when to conclude a proceeding in the same way that a court would be. For example, this Court has observed that

[A] permitting agency is different from a court because of the fact that it may have as much interest in the outcome in protecting the public's interest as directed by the legislature as the applicant or the objector may have as a party protecting its respective property interest. In fact in this instance the Board could have agreed with some of the points made by Wiregrass. Because of this difference, the voluntary dismissal rule, Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.420(a)(1), cannot, in our view, be utilized to divest an adjudicatory agency of the jurisdiction granted it by the legislature. To conclude otherwise, as stated by the district court, could effectively allow an objecting party to unilaterally terminate jurisdiction and in effect declare null and void factual findings made in a proceeding clearly within an agency's area of responsibility and jurisdiction as directed by the legislature. We reject the contention of Wiregrass that it has the power to terminate the chapter 120 proceedings and the factual findings concerning an issue within the responsibility of the agency and have it separated from the jurisdiction of the water management district who must determine whether to grant or deny the permit. That, in our view, makes no sense whatever.

Wiregrass Ranch, Inc. v. Saddlebrooks Resorts, Inc., 645 So. 2d 374, 376 (Fla. 1994) (water management district not divested of jurisdiction to continue to conclusion a fact-finding proceeding concerning issuance of a permit, when party challenging the permit application withdrew its challenge).

The converse of an administrative agency's authority to <u>continue</u> in the public interest a proceeding that one of the parties wishes to terminate for its own private reasons, is the authority to <u>terminate</u> in the public interest an agencyinitiated proceeding that one of the parties may wish to continue for its own private reasons. Stated another way, parties to an agency-initiated proceeding do not have unilateral veto power over the agency's decision to conclude the proceeding on terms that are in the public interest. For example, a private party does not have the power to hold hostage a settlement that an agency has determined clearly to be in the public interest.⁹ This principle was well stated in *Pennsylvania Gas and Water*

Co. v. Federal Power Comm., 463 F.2d 1242, 1246 (D.C. Cir. 1972):

It is well to note at the outset that "settlement" carries a different connotation in administrative law and practice from the meaning usually ascribed to settlement of civil actions. As we shall see later, in agency proceedings settlements are frequently suggested by some, but not necessarily all, of the parties; if on examination they are found equitable by the regulatory agency, then the terms of the settlement form the substance of an order binding on all the parties, even though not all are in accord as to the result. This is in effect a "summary judgment" granted on "motion" by the litigants where there is no issue of fact.

This difference in procedure between the courts and regulatory agencies stems from the different roles each is empowered to play: the court must passively await the appearance of a litigant before it; once the court's process has been invoked, the litigant is entitled to play out the contest, unless he and the other litigant reach a mutually agreed settlement or one of several summary disposition procedures is successfully invoked by his adversary. On the other hand, the regulatory agency is charged with a duty to move on its own initiative where and when it deems appropriate; it need await the appearance of no litigant nor the filing of any complaint; once the administrative process is begun it may responsibly exercise its initiative by terminating the proceedings at virtually any stage on such terms as its judgment on the evidence before it deems fair, just and equitable, provided, of course, that the procedural requirements of the statute are met.

⁹ The FPSC has approved non-unanimous settlements before. See In re: Application for rate increase and increase in service availability charges by Southern States Utilities, Inc. for Orange-Osceola Utilities, Inc. in Osceola County, and in Bradford, Brevard, Charlotte, Citrus, Clay, Collier, Duval, Highlands, Lake, Lee, Marion, Martin, Nassau, Orange, Pasco, Putnam, Seminole, St. Johns, St. Lucie, Volusia, and Washington Counties, Docket No. 950495-WS, Order No. PSC-99-1794-FOF-WS, 99 FPSC 9:204 (September 14, 1999); In re: Generic investigation into the aggregate electric utility reserve margins planned for Peninsular Florida, Docket No. 981890-EU, Order No. PSC-99-2507-S-EU, 99 FPSC 12:426 (December 22, 1999)

In furtherance of this essential flexibility, the Florida legislature has given the FPSC specific authority to conduct limited proceedings, in which the FPSC determines the scope of issues to be considered and in which it has the discretion to accept or reject the proposals of external parties to expand the scope of the proceedings. § 366.076, Fla. Stat. (2001).

Interestingly, one of the centerpiece cases cited by the SFHA for its contention that the FPSC had no choice but to conduct a hearing instead supports the exact opposite proposition, when applied to the circumstances that exist here. In *Citizens of Florida v. Mayo*, 333 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1976), this Court remanded to the FPSC an order in which the FPSC had awarded an interim rate increase to an electric utility without giving Public Counsel an opportunity to present direct evidence contradictory to the utility's evidence or to cross-examine the utility about its evidence. In reaching its decision, the Court noted that

[w]e must conclude . . . that the Legislature intended to provide elected Public Service Commissioners with a range of [procedural] alternatives suitable to the factual variations which might arise from case to case.

Id. at 6. However, the Court found that

Whatever public format the Commission chooses to provide, ..., special conditions pertain in cases where public counsel has intervened. This is a consequence of the statutory nexus between the file and suspend procedures and the role prescribed for public counsel in rate regulation. Public counsel was authorized to represent the citizens of the State of Florida in rate proceedings of this type. That office was created with the realization that the citizens of the state

cannot adequately represent themselves in utility matters, and that the rate-setting function of the Commission is best performed when those who will pay utility rates are represented in an adversary proceeding by counsel at least as skilled as counsel for the utility company. The office of public counsel was created by the same enactment which brought the utilities accelerated rate relief. Under these circumstances, the Commission cannot schedule a "public hearing" and preclude public counsel, the public's advocate, from acting to protect the public's interest.

Id. at 7 (emphasis added).

Here, the shoe is on the other foot. Public Counsel is not only not opposed to the Stipulation, he was actively involved in negotiating the Stipulation and supports it enthusiastically. The "special conditions" applicable to Public Counsel make his participation in the Stipulation vitally important and, by the same token, make the FPSC's decision to conclude its rate review by approving the Stipulation without holding a hearing especially appropriate.¹⁰

¹⁰ FPL recognizes that there may be instances in which the special interests of particular customers are not adequately represented by Public Counsel and that deference to protecting those interests can and should be given independently of Public Counsel's participation. For example, large industrial customers may have special concerns over issues of allocating a utility's revenue requirements among rate classes that are not necessarily aligned with Public Counsel's mandate to represent the interests of customers generally. However, the SFHA has no plausible claim that it has special circumstances requiring separate attention. As noted above, the rate reduction effected under the Stipulation applies exactly the same to all relevant customer classes. Moreover, none of the SFHA's objections to the Stipulation relates uniquely to it or its members. Finally, the Stipulation was joined not only by Public Counsel, but by representatives of a wide range of FPL customer groups, including those which take service under the same types of rates that apply to the SFHA's members.

b. The FPSC's rate review proceeding was conducted consistent with the FPSC's discretion to initiate and c o n c l u d e proceedings in the public interest.

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